© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Diagnosis and Management of Psoriatic Arthritis

John Brockbank and Dafna Gladman

Centre for Prognosis Studies in the Rheumatic Diseases, Toronto Western Hospital, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Contents

Abst	tract
1. D	Diagnosis of Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA)
1	.1 An Historical Perspective
1	.2 Comparison with Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)
1	.3 Comparison with the Other Spondyloarthropathies
1	.4 Laboratory Findings in PsA
2. T	reatment of PsA
2	. 1 Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs
2	.2 Methotrexate
2	.3 Sulfasalazine
_	.4 Cyclosporin
_	.5 Gold
_	.6 Other Standard Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs
_	.7 Corticosteroids
2	.8 Newer Therapies for Psoriatic Arthritis
	2.8.1 Bisphosphonates
	2.8.2 Leflunomide
	2.8.3 Mycophenolate Mofetil
	2.8.4 Anti-Tumour Necrosis Factor Agents
	2.8.5 Efalizumab (Anti-CD11a)
	2.8.6 Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen 4 Immunoglobulin (CTLA4-Ig) 2455
	9 Treating the Skin
	. 10 A Therapeutic Strategy for Psoriatic Arthritis
3. C	Conclusions

Abstract

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is considered to be one of the spondyloarthritides, and as such has both spinal and peripheral joint involvement. In 80% of patients, psoriasis usually precedes the development of arthritis.

Although there are no widely accepted diagnostic criteria, a number of distinct clinical features allow it to be distinguished from other forms of inflammatory arthritis. It affects both sexes equally, and the pattern of joint involvement is characteristic with distal interphalangeal joint involvement, asymmetry, dactylitis, flail or ankylotic deformities of digits, and the frequent presence of enthesitis and spinal involvement. It may have a pattern of joint involvement similar to rheumatoid arthritis (RA) but in these patients rheumatoid factor and the other

systemic features of RA are usually absent. Radiographs frequently reveal evidence of asymmetric sacroiliitis and spinal disease, and peripheral joints, as well as showing erosions, may also demonstrate profuse new bone formation and ankylosis. Profound osteolysis producing the pencil-in-cup deformity can also occur in the same individual. It is now recognised that PsA can be a destructive arthritis with an increased morbidity and mortality.

Studies of standard disease-modifying therapies have been small and frequently inconclusive because of a high placebo response rate. This may be as a result of heterogeneity in patient selection, poor assessment tools, or the difference in underlying pathogenesis and subsequent response to therapy. In meta-analyses, sulfasalazine and methotrexate have been shown to be effective. Treating the skin alone seems to have little impact on joint disease, and the relationship between skin and joints is still unclear. However, recent studies with anti-tumour necrosis factor agents, such as etanercept and infliximab, have shown considerable significant clinical benefit and provided the hope that we will at last have effective therapies for this disease.

Psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) are not new diseases but making the correct diagnosis seems to have always caused problems. Archaeological remains from Judea suggest that in the 5th century individuals with PsA were considered to have 'biblical leprosy' and sent to monasteries for care.[1] In fact, even into the 19th century psoriasis was still considered by some to be a form of leprosy. Our knowledge has improved somewhat since that time but it is only in the last century, or indeed the last forty years, that PsA has been recognised as a disease in its own right. Nevertheless, exactly what PsA is, or what it encompasses, is still under heated debate. There is no single clinical feature or diagnostic test to identify individuals with PsA; even psoriasis is not present in all patients. With lack of good diagnostic criteria, it is understandable that there are few good tools for assessing disease, and subsequently few good or meaningful therapeutic studies. Fortunately, the fascinating range of musculoskeletal disease in these patients is starting to receive more attention, and we are slowly gaining some insights into its pathology and relationship to psoriasis. Hopefully, this will result in therapies directed specifically at PsA, instead of simply putting our faith in 'handme-down' treatments for rheumatoid arthritis (RA).

1. Diagnosis of Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA)

1.1 An Historical Perspective

An arthritis associated with psoriasis was first recognised in the mid-nineteenth century and in 1860 Paul Bazin coined the term 'psoriasis arthritique'.[2] Interest waned until early this century, when it was simply defined by Hench as 'arthritis following psoriasis'.[3] Understandably, this definition received a lot of criticism as it encompassed a multitude of arthropathies, and debate raged during the 1930s as to whether it was indeed a single entity or merely the co-incidental co-existence of two independent conditions.^[4] Epidemiological work in the 1950s and 1960s in Europe showed that there was an excess of arthritis in patients with psoriasis and a similar excess of psoriasis amongst those with arthritis, [5,6] and in 1964 the American Rheumatism Association recognised it as a separate entity. The work of Wright lead to a slightly more precise definition of 'psoriasis associated with erosive polyarthritis and usually rheumatoid factor (RF) negative'.[7] However, it became clear that PsA was not just confined to the peripheral skeleton but that it also had features of spondylitis. In 1973, Moll and Wright published their seminal paper on PsA and its subclassification, now defin-

Table I. Moll & Wright subtypes of psoriatic arthritis

Subtype	Percent Moll & Wright (1973) ^[8]	Percent Gladman (1987)[17]a			
Distal interphalangeal predominant	<5	12			
Arthritis mutilans (severe joint destruction)	5	16			
Symmetrical polyarthritis (similar to rheumatoid arthritis)	15	40			
Asymmetrical/oligo-articular	70	16			
Spinal predominant	5	2			
a Does not total 100% because some patients did not fit the categories as they had symmetric oligoarthritis or asymmetric polyarthritis.					

ing it as 'psoriasis associated with inflammatory arthritis or spondylitis and usually RF negative'.[8]

With their paper and attempts at sub-classification, they highlighted some of the distinctive diagnostic features.[8] The different groups were based solely on clinical phenotype (table I). Other authors have since attempted to re-classify subtypes into peripheral and spinal or those patients with a large extra-articular component (such as Synovitis Acne, Pustulosis Hyperostosis Osteitis - SAPHO), but none has usefully replaced the original subclassification.[9,10] Recently, a French group has produced a set of nine diagnostic criteria incorporating both clinical, radiological and serological tests which in their cohort is 95% sensitive and 98% specific for PsA when compared with RA and ankylosing spondylitis (AS).[11] However, this has yet to be applied to other populations. With the benefit of long-term follow-up there is much greater appreciation of the heterogeneity of patients, and that a single patient may possibly pass through all these groups during the course of their disease. Although many (approximately 40%) of patients start with an oligo-articular pattern of disease, the vast majority develop further joint involvement to become poly-articular and even progress to the mutilating form of the arthritis.[12-14] Similarly, the longer the follow-up the greater the proportion of patients with spinal disease. Presentation with solely distal joint involvement occurs in approximately 10% of patients; however, by 5 years only 2% still have disease confined to these joints. The most useful distinction prognostically is the presence of polyarticular disease (>4 swollen joints) as this predicts a worse outcome, whether

found at diagnosis or later during the course of the illness.^[15,16]

As can be seen from the above sub-classification, the pattern of arthritis alone is not necessarily specific to PsA and there is no specific test to identify patients. Indeed, even psoriasis is absent in up to 20% of patients. Many patients could simultaneously fulfil criteria for PsA, RA or indeed AS. The distinguishing clinical features of PsA, RA and the other spondyloarthritides are listed in table II.

1.2 Comparison with Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)

To begin with, compared with RA, PsA affects both sexes equally^[4] and in RA the rheumatoid factor is more commonly positive. Rheumatoid factor may be detected in up to 30% of the general population and so of its own does not exclude a diagnosis of PsA but has to be placed in the context of the clinical picture.[8] Looking at the distribution of joint involvement, involvement of the distal interphalangeal (DIP) joint is uncommon in RA but is frequently found in PsA (up to 50%), particularly in patients with associated psoriatic nail involvement. There is frequently less symmetry in joint involvement, and often a 'ray' distribution whereby all the joints in a single digit will be affected.^[18] Looking at the joint swelling itself, it may have a mild violaceous discolouration, and is usually not as effusive or prolific as that seen in RA, being more fibrous and also less tender.^[19] Unfortunately, these are features that can only be readily appreciated with experience. Dactylitis (the swelling of an entire digit) is a common occurrence (up to 48% of patients with PsA in the Toronto clinic have at least one episode), but far rarer in RA. It can also be seen in other spondy-

Clinical feature	PsA	RA	AS	Reactive	IBD
Gender	M = F	F > M	M > F	M > F	M = F
Peripheral joint pattern	Oligo/poly, asymmetric	Poly-articular, symmetric	Oligo-articular, lower limb	Oligo-articular, lower limb	Oligo-articular, lower limb
DIP joint	+++	+	-	-	_
Dactylitis	+++	-	+	++	+
Enthesitis	++	-	++	+++	++
Spondylitis	++	-	+++	+	++
Sacroiliitis	Asymmetric	-	Symmetric	Asymmetric	Symmetric
Eye involvement	+	++	++	+++	+
Nodules/Sjögren's	-	+++	_	_	-
Skin/nail lesions	+++	-	-	++	_
Rheumatoid factor positive	_	+++	_	_	_

Table II. Distinguishing clinical features of psoriatic arthritis (PsA), rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and the other spondyloarthritides

AS = ankylosing spondylitis; DIP = distal interphalangeal; F = female; IBD = inflammatory bowel disease; M = male; + indicates low frequency of occurence; +++ indicates medium frequency of occurence; +++ indicates very high frequency of occurence; - indicates feature did not occur.

loarthropathies, sarcoidosis, sickle cell disease and tuberculosis. A gout-like presentation of arthritis can occur, and PsA should be considered in any one with psoriasis who has a podagra-like episode, particularly if young or female, although joint aspiration for crystals is the gold standard.^[8]

With long-standing disease further differences may be found. The classical deformities of RA such as swan necking or boutonniere may be found but are not so common in PsA. Instead different deformities are often seen; rigid ankylosis of joints is frequently observed, and the classical telescoping flail digit or 'doigt en lorgnette' may be seen if marked osteolysis occurs. Spinal involvement occurs in 40% of patients with PsA and up to 70% may have sacroiliac involvement in contra-distinction to RA. [20] Atlantoaxial subluxation with neck disease does occur, although to a lesser degree than in RA. Enthesitis is a frequent feature of PsA, however, true inflammatory heel pain (plantar fasciitis or Achilles tendonitis) is very uncommon in RA.

Fortunately, the systemic manifestations of RA are absent. Rheumatoid nodules or vasculitis are not seen, and Sjögren's syndrome or scleral disease are similarly absent. Patients may develop iritis or conjunctivitis but not as frequently as that seen in ankylosing spondylitis or reactive arthritis.

If we compare radiographs between the two groups, erosive disease of the DIP joints, ankylosis, new bone formation or periostitis, enthesopathic spurs (often with erosions), tuft resorption or the marked osteolysis of the 'pencil in cup' deformity should all direct the physician to a diagnosis of PsA, particularly in the presence of spinal changes.^[21]

1.3 Comparison with the Other Spondyloarthropathies

Fortunately in most patients, the spinal disease of PsA tends to be mild, often with minimal symptoms, and disease may only be detected if looked for carefully either clinically or on radiograph. [22] Sacroiliitis is often asymmetrical but can progress to full ankylosis. Unlike AS, which tends to progress in a caudo-cranial fashion, the first radiographic changes may be seen in the thoracic or cervical spine. These may be simple classical syndesmophytes but large chunky paramarginal syndesmophytes that are more reminiscent of diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis (DISH) maybe seen. [22,23]

Distinguishing PsA from enteropathic or inflammatory bowel disease associated arthropathy can be more difficult at presentation as psoriasis can be associated with Crohn's disease and an oligoarticular disease is often seen as well as sacroiliac involvement. In recent years there has been a move to describe PsA as an enthesopathy, with the arthritis being due to an overflow of inflammation from local enthesopathic sites.^[24] Enthesitis is certainly found more frequently amongst PsA patients and indeed all spondyloarthropathy patients. The European Spondyloarthropathy Study Group (ESSG) found inflammatory heel pain to be 90% specific for spondyloarthritis.^[25] It has even been proposed that psoriatic enthesopathy should be a distinct subset of PsA.[26] Interestingly, enthesitis was not even mentioned as a clinical manifestation in Moll & Wright's original description.[8] However, it is commonly seen in Reiter's syndrome/reactive arthritis, which can also present with sacroiliitis, oligoarthritis, dactylitis and a palmoplantar rash (Keratoderma Blenorrhagica). This could be confused with palmoplantar pustular psoriasis and it is these patients who probably present the greatest opportunity for diagnostic confusion. In such patients a careful history, examination and search for an infective aetiology is necessary.

1.4 Laboratory Findings in PsA

Serological tests have little role in the diagnosis of PsA and act more as confirmation, although the presence of high titre RF with symmetrical polyarticular arthritis would be more indicative of RA. Antinuclear antibody may be elevated in up to 10% of patients, usually at low levels. Inflammatory markers such as erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) or C reactive protein (CRP) may be elevated but are not necessarily so, and have not been shown consistently to follow disease activity as closely as in RA.[27] However, the presence of an elevated ESR does predict a poorer prognosis. [28] Arthroscopy and biopsy of inflamed joints is still in its infancy as a diagnostic tool and reveals only quantitative differences between RA or spondyloarthropathy joints. The synovium of patients with PsA tends to be more vascular both macro- and microscopically than in patients with RA. There is less inflammatory infiltrate, with a shift towards a CD8+ population of T cells as opposed to a CD4+ predominance in RA.^[29,30] Measuring cytokines within joint fluid also reveals a less inflammatory profile.^[31] Tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-α and interleukin (IL)-1 are elevated above normal but at far lower levels than in RA.^[32] There is clearly a difference in pathogenesis but at the moment its implications for therapy or diagnosis are not clear.

2. Treatment of PsA

When the concept of PsA was first developed it was thought to be a comparatively mild disease, affecting only a few joints and causing little long-term damage. Indeed, patients with psoriatic arthritis have less painful joints and complain less than patients with RA with similar disease. [19] However, with long-term follow up it has become apparent that a large proportion develop a polyarticular pattern of disease, progress to radiological joint damage and may also have an increased mortality. [13,28,33]

Unfortunately, placebo-controlled therapeutic studies in the past have been few, often with limited numbers of patients and of short follow-up. There have been no prospective, controlled studies looking at radiological progression, which is not surprising when, until recently, no 'disease-modifying' therapy has convincingly shown an improvement in symptoms above placebo. In fact, most studies show a high placebo response rate of up to 50%, some two to three times greater than that usually found in studies on RA.^[34] This could be due to poor initial case selection through lack of good diagnostic criteria.

We also have no established tools to measure disease activity, particularly when we need to take account of not only peripheral joint disease, but also spinal involvement, enthesopathy and of course skin disease. Ideally, any drug for treating joint disease should also improve the skin or at least make it no worse. Recently the PsARC (Psoriatic Arthritis Response Criteria), a scoring system based on a combination of joint and skin disease, has been proposed and used in clinical trials, although it has not been validated. [35,36] An alternative, and more interesting, explanation for the apparent lack of response may be the different pathogenic mechanisms involved in PsA and RA.

2.1 Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have been the cornerstone of symptomatic control of inflammatory arthritis for many years. Studies in the English literature on their use in PsA are scarce but in clinical practice they appear to be effective in easing symptoms, with similar individual differences in efficacy as seen in other conditions. In patients with spinal disease (where no second-line agent has been shown efficacious), or with minimal peripheral joint disease and a good prognosis, they may be sufficient to control symptoms while waiting for a remission of disease activity. The newer cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2 specific NSAIDs (celecoxib and rofecoxib) appear to work as well as the less-specific agents in practice. No formal studies of efficacy or safety have been performed in patients with PsA. Rarely, in some individuals the introduction of NSAIDs is associated with a flare in skin disease.

2.2 Methotrexate

Methotrexate (an anti-folate) has been used extensively for the management of psoriasis and PsA since the 1950s. Although there is good evidence for its efficacy in psoriasis and also for RA, where it not only improves symptoms but also slows progression of joint damage, placebo-controlled studies in patients with PsA are sadly lacking. Studies have been small and of brief duration. In 1960, Black et al. found a significant benefit with intravenous methotrexate 2-3mg/kg given every 10 days in ten patients over 80 days.[37] In 1984, Wilkens et al. examined 37 patients over 12 weeks (7.5-15 mg/week, orally), but found only an improvement in physician global assessment and skin disease.[38] In uncontrolled studies, a good response has been reported with associated fall in the ESR[39,40] but comparing radiological outcome over time with other therapies showed no additional benefit.[41]

When it was first used at high doses significant liver disease was seen but with lower dose, once weekly therapy, severe liver disease is now rare. A high rate of alcohol-related morbidity is seen in psoriatic patients and caution must be exercised. [42] Regular monitoring of both blood count and liver function is recommended.

In spite of lack of good evidence to support its use, methotrexate is still probably the initial drug of choice in view of its good affect on the skin and proven success in RA. Empirically, in the clinic setting, it also seems to be of benefit.

2.3 Sulfasalazine

Sulfasalazine has been studied the most of the anti-rheumatic drugs, and in meta-analyses has been shown to be of small but significant benefit over placebo. [34] A number of small studies of short duration have shown a trend towards improvement with a reduction in the ESR. [43-45] Even the large Veterans affairs study of 221 patients over 36 weeks showed no significant benefit over placebo with response to sulfasalazine 2g. In the sulfasalazine group 57.8% had a positive response compared to 44.6% in the placebo group. Looking at individual components of response, only the ESR showed a significant reduction with sulfasalazine (p < 0.0001). [35]

Adverse effects in all the studies were surprisingly mild and not significantly higher than placebo. They tended to involve primarily the gastrointestinal tract. The skin did not deteriorate and in some patients improved. A review of the use of sulfasalazine in the clinical setting did not confirm its superiority to other medications neither in the short nor long-term, and toxicity was a major issue.^[46]

2.4 Cyclosporin

Cyclosporin (a selective T cell immunosuppressant) has been used successfully in placebo-controlled studies to treat both plaque and palmo-pustular forms of psoriasis. However, adverse effects, particularly renal, have limited its use and lead to a pulse regimen being used in skin treatment. [47] For arthritis, continued use is usually required and so far there have been no placebo-controlled studies. Study dosages have ranged from 2–6

mg/kg/day, and there have been a number of open studies with less than ten patients. In a larger study of 55 patients over 6 months on a mean dosage of 2.7mg/kg/day, skin disease tends to respond well within 5–6 weeks, while a similar improvement in joint symptoms did not tend to occur until after much longer periods of treatment (24 weeks). [48] Relapse occurs rapidly within 4 weeks after stopping treatment. [49] In comparison with methotrexate, over 1 year it had similar efficacy but the withdrawal rate was higher with cyclosporin. [50]

2.5 Gold

Gold has been used for many years in the management of RA, and would appear to be effective and able to induce remission. Large, placebocontrolled studies in PsA of both intramuscular and oral gold have failed to show any significant improvement over placebo. [51,52] Drop out rates and adverse effects were no greater than those seen in studies in RA. A few patients reported the onset of psoriasis with gold use.

2.6 Other Standard Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs

Studies on other disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) are even fewer. Azathioprine has been reported in abstract form to be effective. [53] Excellent experience was reported in individual patients in a nested case control study which did not reveal an overall advantage of azathioprine over other medications in PsA. [54] The antimalarial chloroquine has been studied retrospectively and not found to be more effective than placebo. Anecdotal reports suggest an increased risk of flare of psoriasis or exfoliative dermatitis but this has not been born out in practice. [55]

2.7 Corticosteroids

In our practice, we use few oral corticosteroids because of their potential long-term adverse effects, risk of rebound flare of pustular psoriasis on withdrawal and possibly reduced efficacy from that seen in RA. There are no controlled or open studies on their use in PsA. Corticosteroid injections either intra-articular or at the site of an enthesis can be rapidly effective in controlling inflammation and may be a good treatment approach in those with an oligo-articular pattern of disease. We frequently use digital flexor sheath injections to manage acute dactylitis. Again there are no studies confirming efficacy intra-articularly or in soft tissues.

2.8 Newer Therapies for Psoriatic Arthritis

2.8.1 Bisphosphonates

Bisphosphonates have been shown in animal models to inhibit the development of chronic inflammation and erosion. Pamidronate has been investigated in pilot studies in patients with spondyloarthropathy (though not PsA) and found to be effective in improving both spinal and peripheral joint symptoms. An associated improvement in ESR, CRP and decreased gadolinium uptake on magnetic resonance imaging was also seen.^[56] Clinical experience in our centre suggests it may also be useful in patients with PsA.

2.8.2 Leflunomide

Leflunomide, or more precisely its active metabolite teriflunomide (A-771726), selectively inhibits dihydro-orotate dehydrogenase thus blocking *de novo* synthesis of pyrimidines and so suppressing activated lymphocyte DNA production. It may have also have other contributory anti-inflammatory effects by altering cell signalling. ^[57] It has proven efficacy in placebo-controlled trials for the treatment of RA and is a true disease modifying agent, delaying progression of radiological damage. ^[58] However, when it comes to PsA there is scant evidence of its efficacy. A multi-national, placebo-controlled study is in progress.

2.8.3 Mycophenolate Mofetil

Mycophenolate mofetil is an immunosuppressive that is now being extensively used to prevent rejection post organ transplant and is starting to be used in other autoimmune diseases. Initial small, short-term (10 weeks), pilot studies in severe psoriasis and PsA have shown doses of 2 g/day pro-

duce some benefit, although the study size and short duration may have precluded a meaningful response.^[59]

2.8.4 Anti-Tumour Necrosis Factor Agents

The anti-TNF agents etanercept and infliximab are now licensed in most countries for use in the management of RA (and for Crohn's disease in the case of infliximab). They have been shown to not only produce a rapid response in symptoms but also to delay disease progression when compared with placebo.^[60,61] Again, what is used in RA, is eventually tried in PsA. A flurry of papers has appeared in press recently describing their use in patients with PsA. The results so far appear to be encouraging and for the first time show a significantly improved response above placebo.

Etanercept

Etanercept is a soluble fusion protein comprising a TNFα type II receptor and immunoglobulin (Ig)G1 heavy chain. It is usually administered twice weekly subcutaneously at a dose of 25mg. There has been one randomised, placebo-controlled study in 60 patients with PsA.^[36] Initial 12-week data have been published that show a highly significant improvement in PsARC (87 vs 23%), and American College of Rheumatology (ACR) improvement criteria (ACR20) [73 vs 13%] and ACR50 (50 vs 3%) over placebo, with minimally significant adverse effects. Further long-term data to 9 months was presented in abstract form. [62] Efficacy in the treatment group appeared to be maintained and other therapies such as methotrexate or corticosteroids could be reduced or discontinued in many patients. The original placebo-control group of 30 patients was commenced on etanercept at the end of the original 12-week period. Interestingly, the response in this group was far less impressive, achieving an ACR20 of 61% as opposed to 87% in the treatment group by the end of the study. However, the Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) score improved consistently in both groups by 62% compared with only a 9% improvement on placebo to 12 weeks. In general, adverse effects continued to be minimal, although significantly a multiple

sclerosis like disease was diagnosed in one patient receiving etanercept.

Infliximab

Infliximab is a mouse-human chimeric protein containing a human Ig Fc component and a murine monoclonal antibody to TNFα. It has to be administered intravenously but can be given at longer time intervals than etanercept. There are as yet no placebo-controlled studies in patients with PsA, although one will soon be underway. The only published data comes from a Belgian study on its use in a group of 21 patients with spondyloarthropathy, which included nine patients with PsA.^[63] Patients received three loading doses of infliximab 5 mg/kg at weeks 0, 2 and 6. Unfortunately, specific data for the PsA patients was not available, although it was reported that peripheral and axial disease improved significantly across the whole group and that this continued out to 20 weeks. Skin disease, as measured by PASI, also showed a marked improvement. One case of pyelonephritis was noted. Results from another study of ten patients has also been presented in abstract. [64] At 1 year, six of the original ten patients had no tender or swollen joints, and three patients had managed to stop therapy, while four were on a lower baseline therapy. One patient experienced an infusion reaction and the drug was stopped. One patient required increased dose and frequency to every 4 weeks. Unfortunately we have no information on their disease at baseline.

We have had the opportunity to use infliximab in 15 of our refractory patients attending the PsA clinic in Toronto Western Hospital. Seven patients have improved their joint counts by 50% and nearly all have shown significant skin improvement. However, this has not been without cost as some patients have deteriorated, and a number of severe adverse events have occurred. Infliximab has had to be stopped in five patients as result of significant adverse effects. Once therapy was halted patients have tended to relapse rapidly. [65]

2.8.5 Efalizumab (Anti-CD11a)

CD11a comprises part of the lymphocyte function-associated antigen and is important in T-cell

trafficking into tissues. Blockade of this receptor has been seen as a possible means to prevent lymphocyte accumulation in psoriatic skin and so treat psoriasis. [66] In phase III studies, a monoclonal antibody to CD11a efalizumab has been anecdotally reported to improve psoriatic arthritis.

2.8.6 Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen 4 Immunoglobulin (CTLA4-Ig)

For activation, T cells require two signals one through the major histocompatibility complex (MHC)/antigen complex and a co-signal via CD80/86 (B7-1/B7-2) and CD28 interaction. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen (CTLA)-4 (CD152) binding to CD80/86, however, strongly inhibits activation. A CTLA4-Ig hybrid has been developed which binds with great affinity to CD80/86, so inhibiting the CD28 dependent costimulatory pathway necessary for T-cell activation. In animals studies CTLA4-Ig can ameliorate collagen-induced arthritis and in human studies in patients with psoriasis it has been found to be effective, producing 50% or greater improvement in skin disease, particularly in those receiving the higher doses.^[67] It has yet to be studied in patients with PsA but studies are underway in those with RA.

2.9 Treating the Skin

Skin disease is not always present in patients with PsA, indeed some studies suggest that skin disease is milder in patients with arthritis.^[68] In those patients with synchronous onset of psoriasis and arthritis, skin and joint activity may correlate. [69] Treating the skin alone with topical therapy does not seem to have much impact on underlying joint disease. However, clearing severe skin disease can still greatly improve the quality of life of the patient. Etretinate therapy, although effective for skin, probably has only a minor role in treating PsA because of its high adverse events rate.^[70] In an open study, photochemotherapy has been shown to produce improvement in patients with peripheral joint disease but, interestingly, arthritis response was inversely proportional to the extent of skin disease.^[71] However, the potential risk of

skin cancers limits its widespread use. Heliotherapy (4 weeks in the Canaries) was found to be an effective treatment for skin and joints in Finnish patients with PsA in an uncontrolled study.[72] Dead sea therapy (balneotherapy) has been shown to be effective in uncontrolled studies.^[73] A recent placebo-controlled study of infliximab as monotherapy in severe psoriasis (5% body surface) demonstrated its efficacy. [74] Eighty-two percent of patients receiving infliximab 5 mg/kg and 91% of patients receiving infliximab 10 mg/kg demonstrated good, excellent or clearing of psoriasis as opposed to only 18% of patients receiving placebo. Therefore, this agent also has a potential role in treating both the joint and skin manifestations of PsA.

2.10 A Therapeutic Strategy for Psoriatic Arthritis

For those patients with spinal disease or very minimal joint symptoms, NSAIDs and simple exercises to maintain mobility and reduce stiffness may be sufficient. Corticosteroid injections can be a useful adjunct in controlling disease in those patients with oligo-articular disease. In those patients with poly-articular disease where a poorer outcome has been demonstrated,[15,16,19] second-line therapy is clearly indicated. Initially we would use methotrexate up to 25mg subcutaneously for its added beneficial effect on the skin, or entericcoated sulfasalazine up to 4 g/day. With more resistant disease we use combination therapy with other standard DMARDs, such as azathioprine, cyclosporin, hydroxychloroquine and leflunomide. Increasingly we are using the newer anti-TNF agents early after unsuccessful treatment with methotrexate and sulfasalazine alone or in combination, especially in those patients with very severe skin disease, where they can be particularly effective in controlling both aspects of the condition. Any treatment for the arthritis must not neglect the skin, which can prove to be just as socially disabling, and we encourage our patients to also seek dermatological advice.

3. Conclusions

PsA is now proven as a distinct disease with a number of characteristic features, which should enable its diagnosis in the clinic setting. However, a formal classification system or set of accepted diagnostic features are not yet available. We have learnt in the last few decades that PsA is not necessarily a benign disease, but can be associated with significant morbidity and aggressive therapy, particularly in those with polyarticular disease, is necessary. What this treatment should be remains a moot point. Therapeutic studies of standard DMARDs have, in general, not shown significant benefit of any agent over placebo, although the newer biological agents are showing great promise and may eventually allow us to successfully treat PsA.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the Canadian Institute for Health Research and The Arthritis Society. Dr Brockbank was supported by a grant from the University of Toronto/University Health Network Arthritis Centre of Excellence.

References

Med 1959; 27: 454-62

- Zias J, Mitchell P. Psoriatic arthritis in a fifth-century Judean desert monastery. Am J Phys Anthropol 1996; 101: 491-502
- Bazin P. Leçons théorétique et Cliniques sur les Affections Cutanées de Nature arthritique et Arthreux. Paris: Delahaye, 1860
- 3. Hench PS. Arthropathia psoriatiaca: presentation of a case. Proc Staff Meet Mayo Clin 1927; 2: 80
- O'Neill TO, Silman AJ. Psoriatic arthritis: historical background and epidemiology. Baillieres Clin Rheumatol 1994; 8: 245-61
- Leczinsky CG. The incidence of of arthropathy in a 10 year series of psoriatic cases. Acta Derm Venereol 1948; 28: 483-7
- series of psoriatic cases. Acta Derm Venereol 1948; 28: 483-76. Wright V. Rheumatism and psoriasis: a re-evaluation. Am J
- 7. Wright V. Psoriasis and arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 1956; 15: 348-56
- Moll JMH, Wright V. Psoriatic arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1973; 3: 55-78
- Vasey FB, Espinoza LR. Psoriatic arthropathy. In: Calin A, editor. Spondyloarthropathies. New York: Grune & Stratton, 1984: 151-85
- Helliwell P, Marchesoni A, Peters M, et al. A re-evaluation of the osteoarticular manifestations of psoriasis. Br J Rheumatol 1991; 30: 339-45
- Fournie B, Crognier L, Arnaud C, et al. Proposed classification criteria of psoriatic arthritis. Rev Rheum Engl Ed 1999; 66: 446-56
- 12. Roberts MET, Wright V, Hill AGS, et al. Psoriatic arthritis: follow-up study. Ann Rheum Dis 1976; 35: 206-12
- Gladman DD. Natural history of psoriatic arthritis. Baillieres Clin Rheumatol 1994; 8: 379-94

- Jones SM, Armas JB, Cohen MG, et al. Psoriatic arthritis: outcome of disease subsets and relationship of joint disease to nail and skin disease. Br J Rheumatol 1994; 33: 834-9
- Gladman DD, Farewell VT, Nadeau C. Clinical indicators of progression of psoriatic arthritis: multivariate relative risk model. J Rheumatol 1995; 22: 675-9
- Gladman DD, Farewell VT. Progression in psoriatic arthritis: role of time varying clinical indicators. J Rheumatol 1999; 26: 2409-13
- Gladman DD, Shuckett R, Russell ML, et al. Psoriatic arthritis: clinical and laboratory analysis of 220 patients. Quart J Med 1987; 62: 127-41
- Oriente P, Biondi Orienet C, Scarpa R. Clinical manifestations. Baillieres Clin Rheumatol 1994; 8: 277-94
- Buskila D, Langevitz P, Gladman DD, et al. Patients with rheumatoid arthritis are more tender than those with psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 1992; 19: 1115-9
- Battistone MJ, Manaster BJ, Reda DJ, et al. The prevalence of sacroiliitis in psoriatic arthritis: new perspectives from a large, multi-centre cohort. Skeletal Radiol 1999; 28: 196-201
- Avila R, Pugh DG, Slocum CH, et al. Psoriatic arthritis: a roentgenologic study. Radiology 1960; 75: 691-702
- Gladman DD, Brubacher B, Buskila D, et al. Differences in the expression of spondyloarthropathy: a comparison between ankylosing spondylitis and psoriatic arthritis. Clin Invest Med 1993; 16: 1-7
- 23. Helliwell PS, Hickling P, Wright V. Do the radiological changes of classic ankylosing spondylitis differ from the changes found in the spondylitis associated with inflammatory bowel disease, psoriasis and reactive arthritis? Ann Rheum Dis 1998; 57: 135-40
- McGonagle D, Conaghan PG, Emery P. Psoriatic arthritis: a unified concept twenty years on. Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42: 1080-6
- Dougados M, Linden S, Juhlin R, et al. The European Spondylarthropathy Study Group preliminary criteria for the classificiation of spondylarthropathy. Arthritis Rheum 1991; 34: 1218-27
- Salvarani C, Cantini F, Olivieri I, et al. Isolated peripheral enthesitis and/or dactylitis: a subset of psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 1997; 24: 1106-10
- Troughton PR, Morgan WA. Laboratory findings and pathology of psoriatic arthritis. Baillieres Clin Rheum 1994; 8: 439-63
- Gladman DD, Farewell VT, Husted J, et al. Mortality studies in psoriatic arthritis: results from a single centre. II. prognostic indicators for mortality. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41: 1103-10
- Baeten D, Demetter P, Cuvelier C, et al. Comparative study of the synovial histology in rheumatoid arthritis, spondyloarthropathy and osteoarthritis: influence of disease duration and activity. Ann Rheum Dis 2000; 59: 945-53
- Veale D, Yanni G, Rogers S, et al. Reduced synovial membrane macrophage numbers, ELAM1 expression, and lining layer hyperplasia in psoriatic arthritis as compared with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1993; 36: 893-900
- Ritchlin C, Haas-Smith SA, Hicks D, et al. Patterns of cytokine production in psoriatic synovium. J Rheumatol 1998; 25: 1544-52
- Partsch G, Steiner G, Leeb BF, et al. Highly increased levels of tumor necrosis factor-α and other pro-inflammatory cytokines in psoriatic arthritis synovial fluid. J Rheumatol 1997; 24: 518-23
- Wong K, Gladman DD, Husted J, et al. Mortality studies in psoriatic arthritis: results from a single outpatient clinic: I. causes and risk of death. Arthritis Rheum 1997; 40: 1868-7
- Jones G, Crotty M, Brooks P, et al. Psoriatic arthritis: a quantitative overview of therapeutic options. Br J Rheumatol 1997; 36: 95-9

- Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Mejias E, et al. Comparison of sulfasalazine and placebo in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis: a department of veterans affairs cooperative study. Arthritis Rheum 1996; 39: 2013-20
- Mease PJ, Goffe BS, Metz J, et al. Etanercept in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis: a randomised trial. Lancet 2000; 356: 385-90
- Black RL, O'Brien WM, Van Scott EJ, et al. Methotrexate therapy in psoriatic arthritis: double blind study on 21 patients. JAMA 1964; 189: 743-7
- Wilkens RF, Williams J, Ward JR, et al. Randomized double blind, placebo-controlled trial of low-dose pulse methotrexate in psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1984; 27: 376-81
- Zacharias H, Zacharias E. Methotrexate treatment of psoriatic arthritis. Acta Dermatol Venereol 1987; 67: 270-3
- Espinoza LR, Zakraoni L Espinoza CG, et al. Psoriatic arthritis: clinical response and side effects of methotrexate therapy. J Rheumatol 1992; 19: 872-7
- Abu-Shakra M, Gladman DD, Thorne JC, et al. Long-term methotrexate therapy in psoriatic arthritis: clinical and radiologic outcome. J Rheumatol 1995; 22: 241-5
- 42. Poikolanen K, Karvonen J, Pukkala E. Excess mortality related to alcohol and smoking amongst hospital-treated patients with psoriasis. Arch Dermatol 1999; 13: 1490-3
- Combe B, Goupille P, Kuntz JL, et al. Sulphasalzine in psoriatic arthritis: a randomized, multicentre placebo-controlled study. Br J Rheumatol 1996: 35; 664-8
- Farr M, Kitas GD, Waterhouse L, et al. Sulphasalazine in psoriatic arthritis: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Br J Rheumatol 1990; 29: 46-9
- Fraser SM, Hopkins R, Hunter JA, et al. Sulphasalzine in the management of psoriatic arthritis. B J Rheum 1992; 32: 923-5
- Rahman P, Gladman DD, Zhou Y, et al. The use of sulfasalazine in psoriatic arthritis: a clinic experience. J Rheumatol 1998; 25: 1957-61
- 47. Meinardi MM, de Rie MA, Bos JD. Oral cyclosporin A in the treatment of psoriasis: an overview of studies performed in the Netherlands. Br J Dermatol 1990; 122 Suppl. 36: 27-31
- Mahrle G, Schulze HJ, Brautigam M. Anti-inflammatory efficacy of low-dose cyclosporin A in psoriatic arthritis: a prospective multicentre study. Br J Dermatol 1996; 135: 752-7
- Gupta AK, Matteson EL, Ellis CN, et al. Cyclosporine in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis. Arch Dermatol 1989; 125: 507-10
- Spadarao A, Riccieri V, Sili-Scavalli A, et al. Comparison of cyclosporin A and Methotrexate in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis: a one-year prospective study. Clin Exp Rheumatol 1995; 13: 589-93
- Palit J, Hill J, Capell HA, et al. A multi-centre double-blind comparison of auranofin, intra-muscular gold thiomalate and placebo in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Br J Rheumatol 1990; 29: 280-3
- Carette S, Calin A, McCafferty JP, et al. A double-blind placebo-controlled study of auranofin in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1989; 32: 158-65
- Levy J, Paulus HE, Barnett EV, et al. A double blind evaluation of azathioprine treatment in rheumatoid arthritis and psoriatic arthritis [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 1972; 15: S116
- Lee JCT, Gladman DD, Schentag CT, et al. The long-term use of azathioprine in patients with psoriatic arthritis. J Clin Rheumatol 2001; 7: 160-5
- Gladman DD, Blake R, Brubacher B, et al. Chloroquine therapy in psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 1992; 19: 1724-6
- Maksymowych W, Lambert R, Jhangri GS, et al. Clinical and radiological amelioration of refractory peripheral spondyloarthropathies by pulse intravenous pamidronate therapy. J Rheumatol 2001; 28: 144-55

- Breedveld FC, Dayer J-M. Leflunomide Mode of action in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2000; 59: 841-9
- Sharp JT, Strand V, Leung H, et al. Treatment with leflunomide slows radiographic progression of rheumatoid arthritis: results from three randomized controlled trials of leflunomide in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. Leflunomide Rheumatoid Investigators Group. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: 495-505
- Grundmann-Kollmann M, Mooser G, Schraeder P, et al. Treatment of chronic plaque-stage psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis with mycophenolate mofetil. J Am Acad Dermatol 2000; 42: 835-7
- Bathon JM, Martin RW, Fleischmann RM, et al. A comparison of etanercept and methotrexate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2000; 343: 1586-93
- Lipsky PE, van der Heijde DMFM, St. Clair W, et al. Infliximab and methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2000; 343: 1594-602
- Mease P, Goffe BS, Metz J, et al. Enbrel (etanercept) in patients with psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43 Suppl. 9: S403
- 63. Van den Bosch F, Kruithof E, Baeten D. Effects of a loading dose regimen of three infusions of chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumour necrosis factor alpha (infliximab) in spondyloarthropathy: an open pilot study. Ann Rheum Dis 2000: 59: 428-33
- Dechant C, Antoni C, Wendler J, et al. One year outcome of patients with severe psoriatic arthritis treated with infliximab [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43 Suppl. 9: S212
- Brockbank JE, Lapp V, Gladman DD. Infliximab therapy in 15 patients with Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) [abstract 092]. J Rheumatol 2001; 28 Suppl. 63: 62
- 66. Gottlieb A, Kreuger JG, Bright R, et al. Effects of administration of a single dose of humanised monoclonal antobody to CD11a on the immunobiology and clinical activity of psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2000; 42: 428-33
- Abrams JR, Lebwohl MG, Guzzo CA, et al. CTLA4Ig-mediated blockade of T-cell co-stimulation in patients with psoriasis vulgaris. J Clin Invest 1999; 9: 1243-52
- Cohen MR, Reda DJ, Clegg DO. Baseline relationships between psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: analysis of 221 patients with active psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 1999; 26: 1752-6
- Elkayam O, Ophir J, Yaron M, et al. Psoriatic arthritis: interrelationships between skin and joint manifestations related to onset, course and distribution. Clin Rheumatol 2000; 19: 301-5
- Klinkhoff AV, Gertner E, Chalmers A, et al. Pilot study of etretinate in psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 1989; 16: 789-91
- Perlman SG, Gerber LH, Roberts M, et al. Photochemotherapy and psoriatic arthritis: a prospective study. Ann Intern Med 1979; 91: 717-22
- Snellman E, Lauharanta J, Reunanen A, et al. Effect of heliotherapy on skin and joint symptoms in psoriasis: a 6 month follow-up study. Br J Dermatol 1993; 128: 172-7
- Sukenik S, Giryes H, Halevy S, et al. Treatment of psoriatic arthritis at the Dead Sea. J Rheumatol 1994; 21: 1305-9
- Chaudhari U, Romano P, Mulcahy LD, et al. Efficacy and safety of infliximab monotherapy for plaque-type psoriasis: a randomised trial. Lancet 2001; 357: 1842-8

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Dafna Gladman*, Centre for Prognosis Studies in the Rheumatic Diseases, Toronto Western Hospital, 399 Bathurst Street, ECW 5-034B, Toronto, Ontario, M5T 2S8, Canada.

E-mail: dafna.gladman@utoronto.ca